### SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### **COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

### **CITY OF LAUREL, MISSISSIPPI**

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

÷

ł

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00984

### **KENNETH (KEN) KEYES**

### APPEAL FROM JONES COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT HONORABLE BILLY JOE LANDRUM

### BRIEF FOR APPELLANT CITY OF LAUREL, MISSISSIPPI

### **ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED**

Attorneys for Appellant:

### DEIDRA J. BASSI {MSB NO.

Hortman Harlow Bassi Robinson & McDaniel, PLLC 414 West Oak Street (39440) Post Office Drawer 1409 Laurel, Mississippi 39441-1409 Telephone: 601-649-8611 Facsimile: 601-649-6062

### DAVID M. RATCLIFF {MSB NO.

### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether or not the Court or the Circuit Court below has subject matter jurisdiction to consider this appeal from a decision of the Laurel Civil Service Commission regarding a promotion.

2. Whether or not Mr. Keyes had standing to pursue the appeal.

3 Whether or not the Laurel Civil Service Commission's decision to not promote Ken keyes was in good faith for cause.

4 Whether or not the Jones County Circuit Court's decision should be reversed and the Civil Service Commission's decision affirmed.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal by the City of Laurel from an order of the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District of Jones County, Mississippi, dated May 19, 2008, (R. 332-334; RE-002-004) reversing a ruling of the Laurel Civil Service Commission dated June 23, 2003 (R. 278-280; RE-030032). In its Order, the Laurel Civil Service Commission rejected Ken Keyes' grievance that he had not been promoted to the position of Battalion Chief in the Laurel Fire Department. (R. 278-280; RE-030-032)

### **B.** Course of Proceedings

ţ

t

T 7

į

On July 7, 1998, Ken Keyes filed a grievance with the City of Laurel in the Laurel Civil Service Commission for not having been given the Battalion Chief promotion in the Fire Department (R. 183; RE-010). On June 20, 2003, the Laurel Civil Service Commission conducted a hearing on Mr. Keyes' grievance. (See Transcript of Hearing, R. 117-165 and Exhibits to the Transcript, R. 166-257) On June 23, 2003, the Civil Service Commission entered its Order rejecting Mr. Keyes' grievance (R. 278-280; RE-030-032).

On July 8, 2003, Mr. Keyes filed an Appeal of the Order of the Civil Service Commission in the Circuit Court of Jones County, Second Judicial District (R. 9-13; RE-005-009). On February 23, 2004, Mr. Keyes filed his Brief in the Circuit Court (R. 258-265; RE-011-018). On March 18, 2004, the City of Laurel filed its Responsive Brief in the Circuit Court (R. 266-276; RE-019-029).

### C. Disposition in the Court Below

On May 19, 2008, the Circuit Court of Jones County entered its "FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW" (R. 332-334; RE-002-004), whereby it reversed the ruling of the Civil Service Commission and ordered the City to promote Mr. Keyes as a Battalion Chief effective June 23, 2003 "with all the promotions, benefits and privileges, of the Battalion Chief rank, ..." This Order was filed of record on May 19, 2008.

On June 6, 2008, the City of Laurel filed its Notice of Appeal to the Supreme Court of Mississippi from the Final Judgment entered by the Circuit Court on May 19, 2008. (R. 335)

### D. Statement of Facts Relative to Issues Presented for Review

- § 21-31-23 Mississippi Code Annotated provides whether this Court has jurisdiction over the issue at bar, i.e. the decision of the Laurel Civil Service Commission to not promote Mr. Keys.
- Mr. Keyes was not given a promotion to Battalion Chief, but rather it was given to David Chancellor.
- The Civil Service Commission conducted a hearing regarding Mr. Keyes' complaint, heard testimony and considered evidence, and then ruled in favor of the City of Laurel.
- The Circuit Court reversed the 2003 decision of the Civil Service Commission in
  2008 and ruled that Mr. Keyes be given the promotion.

### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. The Circuit Court nor this Court has subject matter jurisdiction of this appeal under § 21-31-23 Mississippi Code Annotated since this does not involve an order of removal, discharge, suspension, or combination thereof. Further Mr. Keyes did not have standing to pursue the appeal.

B. The Circuit Court used the wrong standard of review.

C. The Civil Service Commission ruling was made in good faith for cause.

D. The Circuit Court's order is impossible to be complied with and exceeded its authority.

E. Mr. Keyes has retired from the city; thus, the appeal is moot.

Į

### IV. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review

### 1. Circuit Court Standard of Review

The Circuit Court's standard of review of an appeal of an order from a Civil Service Commission is limited and is specifically defined by statute, i.e., §21-31-23 Mississippi Code Annotated. The applicable language in the statute is:

"... The said Circuit Court shall thereupon proceed to hear and determine such appeal. However, such a hearing shall be confined to the determination of whether a judgment or order of removal, discharge, demotion, suspension, or combination thereof made by the Commission was or was not made in good faith for cause, and no appeal to such court shall be taken except upon such ground or grounds. (excerpt from § 21-31-23, Mississippi Code Annotated)

Accordingly, this statute provides the exclusive jurisdiction of the Circuit Court.

### 2. The Supreme Court/Court of Appeals Standard of Review

The standard of review by this Court is the same as the Circuit Court, i.e., whether or not the decision of the Civil Service Commission was in "good faith for cause." This was articulated by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *City of Jackson v. Froshour*, 530 So.2d 1348, 1355 (Miss. 1988) as follows:

It is thus clear that the scope of review of the Circuit Court, and of this court, is limited and we must ever bear in mind that it is not what the Court, had it been a member of the governing authority, might have done in a particular instance, or indeed whether or not the Court thinks a mistake may have been made, but instead, the criterion is whether or not from an examination of the Record there exists credible evidence substantiating the action taken by the City. It is upon this basis that the Court determines whether or not the decision was made in 'good faith for cause.' Courts are not empowered to supervise the intelligence, wisdom or fairness of the governing authorities, and no resources are available to a court to exercise such a function even if granted, in this extremely difficult task of determining the fitness of a particular person for a particular job. The task must be left to the governing authorities of the city. It is only when the Record makes it

clear that there is no 'substantial evidence' supporting the governing authorities' determination that a court can act, and in such case it must. [Emphasis added]

### B. Mr. Keyes' Appeal Should be Denied Due to Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction of the Courts and Due to Mr. Keyes' Lack of Standing to Prosecute This Appeal.

The jurisdiction of the Circuit Court and this Court to hear appeals from a Civil Service Commission ruling are derived by statute, namely Miss. Code Ann. § 21-31-23, entitled "**Removal**, **suspension**, **demotion**, **and discharge**." This statute deals with how persons who are classified as civil service employees may be removed, suspended, demoted, or discharged. The statute provides the steps an aggrieved civil service employee must take, the steps the municipal government must take, and the steps the civil service must take to investigate a **removal**, **suspension**, **demotion**, **or discharge**. Most importantly, for purposes of this appeal, it specifically provides the jurisdiction for the circuit court in hearing and determining an appeal from a civil service hearing. It also provides when a civil service employee ha standing to pursue an appeal. The applicable language in Miss.

Code Ann. § 21-31-23 is:

Ť 7

... The said circuit court shall thereupon proceed to hear and determine such appeal. However, such hearing shall be confined to the determination of whether the judgment or order of removal, discharge, demotion, suspension or combination thereof made by the commission, was or was not made in good faith for cause, and no appeal to such court shall be taken except upon such ground or grounds. [Emphasis added]

It is undisputed that Mr. Keyes is complaining about not getting a promotion. Mr. Keyes was not removed, discharged, demoted, suspended, or a combination thereof. Rather, he simply did not get a promotion, which does not fall into one of the required categories under the statute. Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction of the appeal from the Civil Service Commission. It also follows that this Court also does not have subject matter jurisdiction of this appeal because the statute does not specifically provide the jurisdiction. In addition Mr. Keyes did not have standing to pursue this appeal. Therefore, this appeal should be dismissed for want of subject matter jurisdiction over the dispute and Mr. Keyes' lack of standing to bring the appeal.

# C. Alternatively, the Circuit Court Applied the Wrong Standard of Review on Appeal.

If the Court finds that the Circuit Court and this Court does have subject matter jurisdiction of this dispute/appeal, then the City would state that the Circuit Court applied the wrong standard of review. As set out above, Miss. Code Ann. § 21-31-23 provides the standard of review for the Circuit Court in a civil service appeal. The Circuit Court should determine whether the judgment/order of the Civil Service Commission was or was not made **in good faith for cause**.

The Circuit Court held in its May 19, 2008 order that:

s.

ł.

Ł

The Court finds from the evidence that the City's appointment was clearly in violation of Rule 11(1) of the Civil Service Rules and for the Civil Service Board to uphold that decision, when a qualified person holding the next highest rank was available, was **arbitrary and unreasonable as a matter of law and in violation of their own rule.** [Emphasis added] R. 332-334; RE-002-004

This is the wrong standard of review. The standard of review was prescribed by statute (i.e. was or was not made in good faith for cause), and the Circuit Court did not apply that standard, but rather used a standard of "arbitrary and unreasonable as a matter of law and in violation of their own rule." Since the wrong standard of review was used, the Circuit Court's ruling should be reversed.

#### D. The Civil Service Commission's Ruling Was Made in Good Faith for Cause.

Regardless of the standard of review used by the Circuit Court, its ruling on the merits was misplaced because the Civil Service ruling of June 23, 2003 was made in good faith for cause. There is ample evidence substantiating the action taken by the Civil Service Commission and the City.

,

t.

i –

ł

Rule 11(1) of the Civil Service Commission Rules and Regulations deals with **promotions**, and it provides: "Vacancies and positions shall be filled, **so far as practicable**, by promotion from among persons holding positions in a lower grade from the same office or area of activity of function in which the vacancy exists. . ." [Emphasis added] (R. 321; RE-040) This means, so far as practicable, the City should seek to fill vacancies for jobs by promoting a lower ranking person to the office. The rule does not limit the City to fill the vacancy by promoting a person from the "next lowest position," as argued by Mr. Keyes. In its findings, the Circuit Court found that when a qualified person holding the next highest rank was available and the City did not promote that person, it was a violation of Rule 11(1) and was arbitrary and unreasonable as a matter of law. (R. 332-334; RE-002-0004) The Court also stated as support for its decision that the City has a long history of promoting on the basis of seniority, which has created a strong and stable Fire Department in the City, and that tradition was the basis of Rule 11(1) having been adopted. The Court stated that the rule itself is **compulsory**, provided Mr. Keyes or another candidate of equal rank was qualified. (R. 332-334; RE-002-004)

This is simply an inaccurate interpretation of Rule 11(1) and can be seen by the clear qualifying language, i.e. "so far as practicable" in Rule 11(1) (R. 321; RE-040). The only possible interpretation of this rule with this qualifying language is that the rule is not compulsory and lock step promotions are not required. As discussed below, the City had very good reasons to give the

promotion to someone else versus Mr. Keyes. The City's process of choosing the person to be promoted was sound, well thought out, fair, and in no way political.

ι.

f

į.

ĩ\_

Mr. Keyes argued that the language of Civil Service Rule 11(3) somehow applied to his not getting the promotion at issue. (R. 258-265; RE-011-018) A close examination of this rule shows that it is not applicable to the promotion decision. Rule 11(3) of the Civil Service Rules and Regulations addresses who may take Civil Service **promotion examinations**. That rule provides: "Promotion examinations shall be open, **as far as practicable**, to employees who are employed in permanent positions in the next lowest position or grade. . ." (R. 321; RE-040)

The phrase "as far as practicable" takes on special significance in regard to promotion examinations because they are so expensive. Promotion examinations are the only method by which the City establishes new eligibility lists. For example, in 2008 the City of Laurel spent \$23,000 to conduct the Civil Service examinations for the Laurel Fire Department (R. 129). Rule 8(5) of the Civil Service Commission provides that where an eligibility list has less than 3 names on it before the expiration of 2 years from the time it was established, a new list for the same position may be established. (R. 317-318; RE-038-039)

When the Battalion Chief position came open in 2002 due to a retirement, there were only 2 Shift Captains, one of whom was Ken Keyes. (R. 125-126) Limiting the list of persons eligible to take the Civil Service examination to 2 Shift Captains would have resulted to a list of only 2 persons and would have meant that the Fire Department would have started a 2-year period with less than the desired minimum of 3 persons on the promotion list as required by Rule 8(5) of the Civil Service Rules. (R. 128, 129, 131) Therefore, the Fire Department opened up the examination to the Station Captains and Lieutenants and allowed 12 people to take the test. The test was given and 7 people passed. (R. 128, 129, 138) Thereafter, the Fire Department Promotion Board, composed of

Chief Steve Russell, Battalion Chief Alford Jordan, Greg King, and David Chance, met to consider to who to recommend to fill the vacancy of Battalion Chief. (R. 138) Civil Service Rule 11(2) guided them, which states: "Promotions shall be based upon merit and competition and upon superior qualifications of the person promoted as shown by his previous service, due weight given to seniority." (R. 321; RE-040)

Therefore, test scores, as well as years of service, merit, and qualifications were considered in deciding who to recommend. (R. 145-147) Based on those considerations, the Fire Department decided that David Chancellor, who had 21 years of seniority vs. Mr. Keyes with 17 years of seniority, would be the best candidate for Battalion Chief. (R. 143, 146-147) This decision was based upon Chancellor's leadership skills, interpersonal skills, superior qualifications, merit, test scores, and seniority. (R. 139, 146) This recommendation was made to Mayor Vincent for promotion and, based upon that recommendation, Mayor Vincent then approved David Chancellor's promotion. (R. 156-157) There is no evidence that the Fire Department or the Mayor did not act in good faith for cause. There was nothing in the record to indicate that the Civil Service Commission did not act in good faith for cause in upholding the City's decision.

### E. Proof that the Civil Service Commission's Decision Was Made in Good Faith for Cause

There are several items which are evidence that the Civil Service Commission acted in good faith with cause in not promoting Mr. Keyes, but rather promoting David Chancellor to Battalion Chief. They are as follows:

ł

į.

T

1

The Civil Service Commission conducted a public hearing on June 20, 2003. (R. 278-280; RE-030-032)

-9-

- Mr. Keyes was represented by counsel (Tucker Buchanan) at the hearing. (R. 278-280; RE-030-032)
- Sworn testimony was taken and written exhibits were presented at the Civil Service Commission hearing (R. 278-280; RE-030-032).

A substantial order was provided by the Civil Service Commission explaining the factors considered by them in making their decision and noting that it saw no evidence that the promotion of Mr. Chancellor was not based upon merit, efficiency, and fitness. (R. 278-280; RE-030-032)

A more detailed examination of the Civil Service Commission order shows the Commission's good faith. David Chancellor was given the promotion to Battalion Chief which was being sought by Mr. Keyes. (R. 278-280; RE-030-032) Mr. Chancellor was promoted from "Station" Captain. (R. 278-280; RE-030-032) Mr. Keyes was a "Shiff" Captain, which is a level above Station Captain. (R. 278-280; RE-030-032) Mr. Keyes' complaint to the Civil Service Commission was that the other "Station" Captains were allowed to take the promotion test and be considered for promotion to the position of Battalion Chief. (R. 278-280; RE-030-032)

Miss. Code Ann. § 21-31-13 provides that all promotions are to be made "solely on merit, efficiency, and fitness, which may be ascertained by open competitive examination and impartial investigation." (R. 278-280; RE-030-032)

In its order, the Civil Service Commission found:

÷

E

There was no evidence that the promotion of Captain David Chancellor was not based upon merit, efficiency and fitness. Rather, Captain Keyes' complaint was that Chancellor should have never been considered for promotion to Battalion Chief without having previously held the position of Shift Captain.

The City offered testimony concerning the large cost of competitive examinations and the desirability of compiling an adequate eligibility list with a sufficient number of names to last for at least two years. There was additional testimony as to the importance of an eligibility list with more than three names in order to have an adequate group of qualified individuals from which to select for promotions.

The Commission finds that Rule 11 requires that vacancies be filled, so far as practicable, by persons holding positions in a lower grade from the same office or area of activity, but it does not limit promotions to individuals already holding the very next lowest position or grade. Such a restrictive interpretation of the rules may not in all cases insure that promotion is granted to the best candidate based upon merit, efficiency and fitness.

Therefore, the promotion of Captain David Chancellor to Battalion Chief is upheld.

(R. 278-280; RE-030-032)

:

τ̈́

Accordingly, the Civil Service Commission clearly set out its considerations, the authorities it was applying, and the factors considered in choosing Mr. Chancellor over Mr. Keyes for promotion. It also noted that there was no proof that the promotion procedure followed failed to meet the requirements of the Civil Service Commission Rules and Regulations.

Mr. Keyes did not present to the Civil Service Commission nor the Circuit Court any credible evidence showing that the promotion was not made in good faith for cause, or that Mr. Keyes not being given the promotion was not made in good faith for cause.

### F. The Relief Ordered by the Circuit Court Exceeded Its Authority and is Impossible to Accurately be Complied With

The Circuit Court in its order dated May 19, 2008, ordered the City to "promote the appellant as Battalion Chief, effective June 23, 2003, with all the promotions, benefits and privileges, of the Battalion Chief rank, which was the rank he deserved." (R.332-334; RE-002-004) [Emphasis added] Ordering the City to go back five years and place Mr. Keyes as the Battalion Chief and then give him all the promotions, benefits and privileges of Battalion Chief from 2003 to the present is hardly an easy task, if not impossible. It is specifically relevant that on March 4, 2009, Mr. Keyes retired as an employee of the City. Therefore, it is the City's position that this appeal

-11-

really is moot at this point because Mr. Keyes is asking to be promoted to Battalion Chief although he no longer works for the City. Alternatively, if it is not moot, the uncertainty of what would have happened as far as promotions, benefits, and privileges regarding Mr. Keyes is hard to reconstruct. For example, on March 19, 2007, Mr. Keyes was injured at work and took leave under the Workers Compensation Act. On May 5, 2008, he returned to work but injured himself on that day and went back out on a Workers Compensation injury. Thereafter, he retired. How this leave could have affected any "promotions, benefits or privileges" is uncertain.

Another factor that needs to be considered is that currently Mr. Keyes is running for City Council. This is significant in that he wants to be the Battalion Chief, but if Mr. Keyes is elected to the City Council he cannot serve as an employee of the City. In addition to the aforementioned uncertainties, the Circuit Court did not address what to do with Mr. Chancellor, who had been given the promotion to Battalion Chief and which he has held for five years. Accordingly, the City would state that since Mr. Keyes is no longer employed by the City, the appeal is moot. Alternatively, the Circuit Court exceeded its authority by ordering a retroactive promotion to predate the Judge's May 2008 order to five years carlier, i.e. June 2003. Finally, the relief being requested, i.e. put Mr. Keyes in the Battalion Chief position, is problematic due to the fact that the position is being held, and has been held, by Mr. Chancellor since 2003.

### G. Political Reasons/Mayor's Involvement

í

E 1

During the June 20, 2003 hearing before the Civil Service Commission, Mr. Keyes indicated that his failure to obtain the promotion was due to political reasons of the Mayor. (R. 149-150) However, as can be seen by a review of the hearing transcript, the Mayor received a recommendation from the Fire Chief, which recommendation was derived by a process as is fully explained above and which was explained during the hearing before the Civil Service Commission, and the Mayor simply

-12-

adopted the recommendation to promote Mr. Chancellor. (R. 157) No credible evidence was presented that the Mayor acted in any improper or political manner, or that any political reason was the motivational factor for Mr. Chancellor receiving a promotion over Mr. Keyes.

### V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The City of Laurel respectfully requests that this Court deny Mr. Keyes' appeal due to the lack of subject matter jurisdiction of the Circuit Court and of this Court . Alternatively, for the reasons above, the City of Laurel respectfully requests the Court to reverse the Circuit Court's order of May 19, 2008, which upheld the promotion of Mr. Keyes to Battalion Chief.

Respectfully submitted,

THE CITY OF LAUREL, MISSISSIPPI Appellant

Deidra J. Bassi, Of Counsel

### DEIDRA J. BASSI {MSB NO. 9384}

ŧ

ί.

ί.

[ ] ]

i

ŧ

HORTMAN HARLOW BASSI ROBINSON & MCDANIEL, PLLC 414 WEST OAK STREET (39440) POST OFFICE DRAWER 1409 LAUREL, MS 39441-1409 TELEPHONE: 601-649-8611 FACSIMILE: 601-649-6062

### DAVID M. RATCLIFF {MSB NO. 4633}

525 CENTRAL AVENUE (39440) Post Office Box 706 Laurel, Mississippi 39441-0706 Telephone: 601-425-2303 Facsimile: 601-426-6728