#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### Case No. 2008-CA-00984

CITY OF LAUREL, MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

KENNETH (KEN) KEYES

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

#### **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED**

THOMAS T. BUCHANAN, MSB#
JOHN D. SMALLWOOD, MSB#
TUCKER BUCHANAN, P.A.
ATTORNEYS AT LAW
Post Office Box 4326

Post Office Box 4326 Laurel, MS 39441

T: (601) 649-8000

F: (601)-649-8009

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The basis of this appeal is the <u>Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law</u> [R. 332] entered by the Circuit Court of Jones County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District on May 19, 2008. The Circuit Court's ruling was based upon the record made before the Laurel Civil Service Commission ["LCSC"] and briefs submitted by the City of Laurel ["the City"] and by Kenneth "Ken" Keyes ["Mr. Keyes"]. The Circuit Court's decision reversed a final agency <u>Order</u> [R. 278] rendered on June 23, 2003 by the LCSC. The <u>Order</u> from the LCSC denied a Grievance filed on March 14, 2003 by Mr. Keyes.

Aggrieved by the <u>Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law</u> [R. 332], the City timely filed its Notice of Appeal [R. 335]. Mr. Keyes did not file a cross appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 14, 2003, Ken Keyes, having been a Shift Captain with the City of Laurel Fire Department since 1997, filed a Grievance with the City and the Laurel Civil Service Commission. [Appendix I] <sup>1</sup>.

The factual basis for the appeal stems from the promotion of another fireman from a rank below Mr. Keyes to Battalion Chief, and the LCSC Order of June 23, 2003 [R. 278]. The LCSC upheld the promotion of a rank of Station Captain which is a rank below Mr. Keyes' rank of Shift Captain. It is uncontradicted that both men were highly qualified and that Mr. Keyes had a higher rank than the person appointed. It is also uncontradicted that Mr. Keyes scored the highest test score on one of the two tests administered and the second highest test score on the other test administered. [RE-30]. It is further uncontradicted that in 1998, Mr. Keyes received his promotion to Fire Department Shift Captain, which is a higher rank than Station Chief.

The issue is simply whether or not the city was authorized to appoint the Station Captain over Mr. Keyes, when Rule 11(1) of the Civil Service Rules and Regulations for the City of Laurel provides that:

"Vacancies in positions **shall** be filled, so far as practicable, by promotions from among persons holding positions in a lower grade from the same office or area of activity of function in which the vacancy exists..."

The City of Laurel has a long history of promoting on the basis of seniority, which

In the <u>Brief of Appellant</u> and <u>Record Excerpts</u>, the City identifies a Grievance dated July 7, 1998. While that Grievance was filed, Mr. Keyes was not granted a hearing on that Grievance. The March 2003 Grievance was the subject of Mr. Keyes appeal to the Jones County Circuit Court <u>and</u> is the subject of this appeal. The correct Grievance is attached as Appendix I.

has created a strong and stable fire department in that City and that tradition was the basis of Rule 11(1) having been adopted. The City argued to the Circuit Court that "shall" does not make it compulsory that the City appoint the next highest ranking officer. The City argued that the wording somehow means that they could promote from any lower ranking officer and that the upholding of its decision by the LCSC was not arbitrary and capricious. The Circuit Court found that the City's appointment was clearly in violation of Rule 11(1) of the Civil Service Rules and that for the Civil Service Board to uphold that decision, when a qualified person holding the next highest rank was available, was arbitrary and unreasonable as a matter of law and in violation of their own rule. [RE-3].

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

In promoting to Battalion Chief an officer holding a rank below Mr. Keyes, the City of Laurel violated the *Civil Service Rules and Regulations*. Said actions were arbitrary, unreasonable, confiscatory, and capricious. The <u>Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law</u> rendered by the Jones County Circuit Court finding the same and reversing the ruling of the Laurel Civil Service Commission was proper and should not be reversed by this Court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Where an employee has instituted an appeal of a final agency decision to the proper circuit court, the scope of the this Court's review of the circuit court shall be limited to a review of the record made before the agency or hearing officer to determine if the action is unlawful for the reason that it was: a) Not supported by substantial evidence; b) Arbitrary or capricious; or c) In violation of some statutory or constitutional right of the employee." *Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 750 So.2d 1225 (Miss. 1999); *Young v. Mississippi State Tax Comm'n*, 635 So.2d 869, 874 (Miss.1994); *Bertucci v. Mississippi Dep't of Corrections*, 597 So.2d 643 (Miss.1992).

This court further opined that "[o]n appeal here, the question before [the appellate court] is whether or not the action of the Civil Service Commission was in good faith for cause. Intertwined with this question is whether or not there was substantial evidence before the Civil Service Commission to support its order and whether it is arbitrary, unreasonable, confiscatory, and capricious." *City of Vicksburg v. Lane*, 2009-MS-0603.144 (Miss. COA 2009); *City of Jackson v. Froshour*, 530 So. 2d 1348, 1355 (Miss. 1988).

#### **Preliminary Statement of Response**

In its <u>Statement of the Issues</u>, the City identified four (4) issues, (1) subject matter jurisdiction, (2) standing to appeal, (3) whether Commission acted in good faith, and (4) whether the Circuit Court should be reversed. However, through its summary of the argument and its argument, the City raises multiple other issues. Though Mississippi jurisprudence clearly provides that only those issues identified on appeal will be considered by this Court, out of an abundance of caution, Mr. Keyes will address those other issues not listed but argued, as needed. [see *River Region Medical Corp. v. Patterson*, 975 So.2d 205 (Miss. 2007); *Glover v. Jackson State Univ.*, 755 So.2d 395, 398 (Miss. 2000)].

I. WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT AND THE JONES COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT HAVE SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OF THE APPEAL FILED BY KEN KEYES FROM THE DECISION OF THE LAUREL CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION.

The City argument here boils down to its argument that Mr. Keyes cannot appeal the LCSC Order because it did not involve a "removal, discharge, demotion, suspension or combination thereof" relying on *Miss. Code Ann.* §21-31-23. The City's argument ignores long standing Mississippi law regarding appeals from final agency orders.

"Writs of certiorari are granted to the circuit court to determine questions of law on the face of the record and proceedings." *Chandler v. Jackson Civil Service Comm.*, 687 So.2d 142, 143 (Miss. 1997); *Miss. Code Ann.* § 11-51-93 (1972). Additionally, *Miss. Code. Ann.* § 11-51-95 (Supp.1988) provides that "[1]ike proceedings as provided

in section 11-51-93 may be had to review the judgments of all tribunals inferior to the circuit court, whether an appeal be provided by law from the judgment sought to be reviewed or not." *Id.* "A municipal civil service commission is included within "tribunals inferior," so the limitations under § 11-51-93 would apply to it. *Id.*, see also *Gill v. Mississippi Dept. of Wildlife Conservation*, 574 So.2d 586, 591 (Miss.1990).

It is well settled that the court may make determinations of arbitrariness in decisions by boards, agencies and commissions. Chandler at 144; see Gill, supra; Peterson, supra; City of Meridian v. Hill, 447 So.2d 641, 643-644 (Miss.1984); Ridgewood Land Co. v. Simmons, 137 So.2d 532, 536 (1962); City of Meridian v. Davidson, 53 So.2d 48, 52-53 (1951). The Jones County Circuit Court clearly had subject matter jurisdiction to consider Mr. Keyes appeal. This Court has the same.

Furthermore, as to the issue raised by the City in section B., pages 5-6 in its Brief of Appellant, it should be noted that the City has failed to provide any case law to support its argument, citing only *Miss. Code Ann.* §21-31-23. As this Court is well aware, on appeal, failure to cite authority in support of claims precludes appellate review of those claims. *Price v. Clark*, 2009-MS-0724.202 (Miss. 2009); *Griffith v. Griffith*, 997 So. 2d 218, 225 (Miss. COA 2008); *Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Gray Corp.*, 972 So. 2d 495, 517 (Miss. 2007).

# II. WHETHER KEN KEYES HAD STANDING TO PURSUE HIS APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE LAUREL CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION.

Though this is the second issue identified by the City in the "Statement of Issues", the City's argument on this issue was included in its argument that the Circuit Court and this Court lacked standing all being contained in section B., pages 5-6 in its <u>Brief of Appellant</u>. Mr. Keyes response hereinabove to issue I. applies to issue II. as well. As such, no further response is required. Mr. Keyes would though reiterate that here again, the City has failed to provide authority for this Court to consider this issue. *Price v. Clark*, 2009-MS-0724.202 (Miss. 2009); *Griffith v. Griffith*, 997 So. 2d 218, 225 (Miss. COA 2008); *Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Gray Corp.*, 972 So. 2d 495, 517 (Miss. 2007).

## III. WHETHER THE LAUREL CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION ACTED IN GOOD FAITH IN FAILING TO PROMOTE KEN KEYES.

As to this issue, the City argues its position in sections C., D. and E. of the <u>Brief of Appellant</u>. The just of the City's argument is counsel's interpretation of Rule 11(1) of the Civil Service Commission Rules and Regulations <u>and</u> the City's argument that two (2) candidates in the next lowest rank of Shift Captain was not enough to choose from.

First and foremost, the City has once again failed to provide any authority whatsoever in support of the "good faith" argument made in sections C., D. and E. of the Brief of Appellant. *Price v. Clark*, 2009-MS-0724.202 (Miss. 2009); *Griffith v. Griffith*, 997 So. 2d 218, 225 (Miss. COA 2008); *Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Gray Corp.*,

972 So. 2d 495, 517 (Miss. 2007). The arguments made by the City in each of these sections of its Brief are nothing more than argument and interpretation of counsel.

Secondly, the Circuit Court, armed with the record and briefs of the parties and the civil service rules involved, found that Rule 11(1) was compulsory. The Circuit Court found that as a matter of law that "the City's appointment was in clearly in violation of Rule 11(1) of the Civil Service Rules and that for the Civil Service Board to uphold that decision, when a qualified person holding the next highest rank was available, was arbitrary and unreasonable as a matter of law and in violation of their own rule." [RE-3].

The Circuit Court's findings are supported based upon reading Rule 11(1) in conjunction with Rule 11(3). The City is asking to read Rule 11(1) in a vacuum and through its interpretation, however they must be read in conjunction with the other. In doing so, it is clear that a candidate for promotion pursuant to Rule 11(1) must take promotion examinations pursuant to Rule 11(3). The promotion examinations provided for in Rule 11(3) "shall be open, as far a practicable, to employees who are employed in permanent positions in the next lowest position or grade.." [RE-40]. The uncontradicted evidence in the case at hand is that Mr. Keyes and another employee held the next lowest rank of Shift Captain when the Battalion Chief position came open. [R. 125-126]. The uncontradicted evidence is the Mr. Keyes had the highest test score of any of the candidates who took the exams. [RE-7].

These uncontradicted facts along with a proper application of the Rules of Civil Service led the Circuit Court the to clear conclusion that the LCSC promotion of a

Station Captain over a higher ranking Shift Captain was "arbitrary and unreasonable as a matter of law". The City's argument otherwise is not supported by the facts and the Circuit Court Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law should be affirmed accordingly.

# IV. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REVERSING THE DECISION OF THE LAUREL CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION.

As to this issue, the City appears to argue its position in section F. of the <u>Brief of Appellant</u>. The just of the City's argument is its claim that because at the time of the filing of the Brief of Appellant, Mr. Keyes was retired from the City, the appeal is moot. The City also argues that the Circuit Court exceeded its authority with its retroactive promotion plus it would be "hardly an easy task, if not impossible".

First and foremost, the City has once again failed to provide any authority whatsoever in support of these arguments. *Price v. Clark*, 2009-MS-0724.202 (Miss. 2009); *Griffith v. Griffith*, 997 So. 2d 218, 225 (Miss. COA 2008); *Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Gray Corp.*, 972 So. 2d 495, 517 (Miss. 2007).

Secondly, as to the mootness issue, the City is the Appellant in this matter, not Mr. Keyes. It is the City who is seeking to reverse the Circuit Court's decision. Additionally, the City's position that retroactive promotion may be impossible is simply not true and nothing more than an accounting issue. Simply pay Mr. Keyes the increased salary from 2003 until his retirement in 2009, adjust his retirement benefits accordingly and any other benefits which might have been involved. As these would have been Mr. Keyes highest

four years in terms of salary, his PERS retirement would be increased.

As to the assundry other issues raised by the City, these are issues which are not a part of the record and thus not germane to the issues before this Court. As such, Mr. Keyes will not address the merits of those facts except to say that he remains retired from the City of Laurel. Likewise, as to section G. of the <u>Brief of Appellant</u>, that argument was not raised as an issue of appeal is not germane to the issues before the Court and the City has once again failed to cite authority to support whatever issue is raised therein.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the foregoing, the <u>Findings of Facts and Conclusion of Law</u> rendered by the Circuit Court of Jones County, Mississippi should be affirmed.